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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

In the Matter of 

TRAFFIC JAM EVENTS, LLC, a limited liability 

company 

and 

DAVID J. JEANSONNE II, individually and as an 

officer of TRAFFIC JAM EVENTS, LLC. 

DOCKET NO. 9395 

ANSWER AND DEFENSE OF RESPONDENTS TRAFFIC JAM EVENTS, LLC, AND 

DAVID J. JEANSONNE II 

Pursuant to Rule 3.12 of the Federal Trade Commission’s (“FTC” or “Commission”) Rules 

of Practice for Adjudicative Proceedings, Respondents Traffic Jam Events, LLC, and David J. 

Jeansonne II (collectively, “Respondents”) by and through their attorneys, admit, deny, and aver 

as follows with respect to the Administrative Complaint (“Complaint”) filed by the Commission:  

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

Traffic Jam Events, LLC has been in the advertising business since 2007. Mr. Jeansonne, 

the President of Traffic Jam has been in the advertising business for many years. Specifically, 

Traffic Jam Events, LLC is in the business of creating mailers on behalf of automotive dealerships 

to promote automotive sales. This case involves what the FTC seeks to categorize as two types of 

mailers: an alleged “COVID-19 stimulus mailer” and a prize notification mailer. However, the 

FTC’s efforts to group the mailers referenced in paragraphs 9 and 10 as “substantially similar” 

COVID related mailers is grossly misleading at best.   

The first mailer addressed in paragraph 9 of the Complaint included certain materials 

referencing a stimulus relief promotion (the “Florida Mailer”). The Florida Mailer was sent to 
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residents in Florida in March 2020 on behalf of New Wave Auto Sales promoting an automotive 

sales event in Bushnell, Florida from March 27, 2020 to April 5, 2020. See Exhibit “A.” A 

completely different mailer was sent to residents in Alabama in early April 2020 on behalf of FCA 

Fiat Chrysler advertising an automotive sales promotion in Dothan, Alabama (the “Alabama 

Stimulus Mailer”). See Exhibit “B;” see also Complaint at ¶ 10. With respect to the Florida Mailer 

and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer, the Complaint attempts to hold Respondents liable for mailing 

advertisements purporting to provide “COVID-19 stimulus relief” to consumers, allegedly in 

violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”). See Complaint at ¶¶ 15-

16. Additionally, the Complaint alleges that Respondents failed to follow the Truth-in-Lending 

Act (“TILA”) and associated Regulation Z requirements. Id. at ¶¶ 14, 20-23. Despite the FTC’s 

attempt to conflate the Florida Mailer with the Alabama Stimulus Mailer and its blatantly false 

characterization of these mailers, the Florida Mailer and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer are entirely 

distinct and certainly cannot be collectively referred to as “COVID-19 Stimulus” mailers. Indeed, 

the Alabama Stimulus Mailer does not even reference COVID-19.  Nor does it contain any 

language that could deceive the reasonable consumer, acting reasonably in the circumstances.  

Contrary to the FTC’s allegation, the Alabama Stimulus Mailer specifically and clearly identifies 

the mailer as part of a private automotive economic stimulus program.  The FTC appears to think 

that the federal government has a monopoly on the words “economic stimulus.” 

Notably, the exhibits referenced in FTC’s Complaint which reveal the true nature of the 

mailers selectively and inaccurately described in paragraphs 9 and 10 of the Complaint were not 

included with the copy of the Complaint served on Respondents and also are not included with the 

Complaint posted on the FTC’s website. Moreover, to the extent that similar tactics were employed 

in the presentation of this matter to the Commission in connection with its vote to institute the 
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instant administrative proceeding, the procedures and processes under which this action were 

initiated were arbitrary, capricious and otherwise in violation of the law and the FTC’s own Policy 

Statement on Deception.  

The second category of mailer (the “Prize Notification Mailer”) outlined details about a 

contest involving potential prizes. The Prize Notification Mailer was sent to residents in Alabama 

in May 2020 on behalf of Landers McLarty Nissan promoting an automotive sales event in 

Madison, Alabama from May 28 to June 3, 2020. See Exhibit “C.” With respect to the Prize 

Notification Mailer, the FTC alleges that Respondents mailed deceptive prize notifications to 

consumers, purporting to lure individuals to an automotive sales event by disseminating 

advertisements and promotional materials claiming that recipients have won prizes. Complaint at 

¶ 12. 

The instant administrative action arises as a direct result of the FTC’s after the fact 

collaboration with the Florida Attorney General’s office following a state lawsuit1 relating to the 

Florida Mailer, a consent decree involving another party,2 as well as the FTC’s failed attempt to 

pursue claims regarding the Florida Mailer in federal court. See Federal Trade Commission v. 

Traffic Jam Events, LLC et al., CV No. 2:20-CV-1740-WBV-DMD (Ed. La. 2020) (the “EDLA 

Litigation”) (denying the FTC’s Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order, and voluntarily 

                                                 
1 See Office of the Attorney General, et al. v. Traffic Jam Events, LLC et al., Case No. 20-

CA-3536 (Fla. Cir. Ct., 13th Judicial Cir., Hillsborough Cty. 2020) (the “Florida Litigation”). 

Respondents incorporate by reference the entire docket in connection with the Florida Litigation, 

which is publically available, as if physically attached hereto.   

2 See Exhibit “D.”   
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dismissed by the FTC prior to the Court’s ruling on Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss the case in 

its entirety).3 It is procedurally flawed, retaliatory in nature, and arbitrary and capricious. 

While Respondents admittedly engaged in the practice of sending the Florida Mailer to 

Florida residents, there is no evidence of consumer harm, nor, more importantly, evidence of any 

deception.  The FTC has taken zero steps to ascertain whether a single consumer was deceived, 

misled or harmed.  To the contrary, the FTC seems to have blindly relied upon the 

mischaracterizations supplied by the Florida AG’s office, and a highly selective interpretation of 

the Alabama Stimulus Mailer that fails to consider the entire context of the advertisement.  At the 

time the Florida Attorney General filed the state action against Respondents, that office had not 

received a single complaint from an actual consumer to support the action or to suggest that any 

consumer was misled by the mailer. Rather, the invocation of the Florida lawsuit was only pursued 

because a local news outlet ran a story describing the Florida Mailer as containing a “fake” 

stimulus check.4 The news station then contacted the Florida Attorney General office to inquire 

what the Florida Attorney General intended to do about these “fake” checks, notwithstanding that 

the checks were clearly non-negotiable, noted as “VOID,” and were clearly part of an 

advertisement. Only then did the Florida Attorney General’s office begin its investigation, clearly 

motivated by scoring political points for prosecuting “Coronavirus scams.”  

                                                 
3 Respondents incorporate by reference the entire docket in connection with the EDLA 

Litigation, which is publically available, as if physically attached hereto.   

4 At the time Respondents mailed these purportedly “fake” stimulus checks, however, 

Congress had not yet passed any stimulus relief. Therefore, it was preposterous to believe that any 

consumer, much less the reasonable consumer, was likely to be misled by the COVID Mailers. 

Moreover, the relief that ultimately was passed had nothing to do with the automotive industry, 

and certainly not the vehicles prominently featured in the COVID Mailer (e.g., Mercedes and 

Nissan). 
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Rather than contacting Respondents to address any of these allegations, the Florida 

Attorney General obtained incomplete information from Michael Kasternakes and New Wave 

Auto Sales,5 who had hired Respondents to run the advertisements. On the day of filing the 

Lawsuit, the Florida Attorney General’s office issued a “Press Release” that, among other things, 

claimed that “Ashley Moody’s Consumer Protection Division today filed a legal complaint and 

motion for temporary injunction against an advertising company, operating in Tampa, for mailing 

used car promotions disguised as COVID-19 stimulus checks.” See Exhibit “D.” The Press Release 

further claimed that “[i]n response to consumer complaints related to the COVID-19 mail piece, 

the Consumer Protection Division opened an investigation against Traffic Jam Events and 

Jeansonne.” This statement was not true, as no investigation was ever opened as a result of any 

consumer complaint.  

Moreover, contrary to the assertions in the Press Release, the Mailer resulted in no 

deception as the tent sale was a complete dud. The Florida Mailer generated little response, and 

out of a total of 35,000 mailers, not a single Florida consumer appeared at the tent sale looking for 

COVID-19 Stimulus Relief. Further, despite months of investigation following the filing of the 

Florida Litigation, the Florida Attorney General (and the FTC) have been unable to unearth a single 

consumer who was either misled, deceived or harmed. Additionally, as was apparent from the 

Florida Mailer, the event in question was a one-time event for a sale that had already occurred. 

Accordingly, the fact that the Florida Attorney General sought a temporary restraining order and 

injunctive relief and described the actions as ongoing and future threats to Florida consumers was 

                                                 
5 Unsurprisingly, Kastrenakes and New Wave provided untruthful declarations to the FTC 

after entering into an Assurance of Voluntary Compliance with the Florida Attorney General, 

expressly pledging their cooperation. See Exhibit “E” at 7. They falsely stated that they did not 

assist in the development of the COVID Mailer and repudiated its content once they were made 

aware of it.  
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without any basis in fact, and could only have been done to enhance the perceived “threat” of the 

Respondent’ actions and elevate the lawsuit for purposes of the Press Release and/or to gather 

news attention.  

Knowing that the claims lacked merit (i.e., its claims did not warrant any preliminary 

injunctive relief6 and were not in violation of any Florida law), the Florida Attorney General’s 

office apparently contacted the FTC in an effort to create a “federal case” against Respondents and 

bolster its claim. Presumably, because this occurred during the period of time when the parties 

were discussing a resolution of the complaint, the Florida Attorney General’s office was using this 

contact to leverage its failed demand that Respondents agree to a financial penalty.  As a result of 

information provided by the Florida Attorney General’s office, the FTC instituted the EDLA 

Litigation regarding the Florida Mailer.  

In doing so, the Commission failed to follow the proper procedural channels. The 

Commission made a calculated decision to forgo its typical practice of providing notice to 

Respondents’ of their allegedly deceptive conduct. It filed suit in federal court, despite the fact that 

the Commission could not show that Respondents were currently violating the law or were about 

to violate the law, as required by Section 13(b) of the FTC Act. Because the Commission could 

not show any need for immediate relief, the federal court dismissed its claims and refused any 

injunctive relief. And, while Respondents’ motion to dismiss was pending in the EDLA Litigation 

(after it had been fully briefed), the FTC moved to voluntarily dismiss the EDLA Litigation. 

Apparently frustrated by this defeat, the Commission purportedly then voted to institute 

the instant administrative action, consisting of new, additional claims (i.e., claims relating to the 

                                                 
6 Indeed, to date, despite its Petition, the Florida Attorney General’s office has not pursued 

the temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction. 
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Alabama Stimulus Mailer, TILA and Regulation Z, and the Prize Notification Mailer, none of 

which were raised in the EDLA Litigation), in an attempt to seek penalties from Respondents. 

Respondents are not aware of any complaints from consumers regarding the Alabama Stimulus 

Mailers or the Prize Notification Mailers.  Nor have the Respondents received any notices or 

warnings of allegedly deceptive or misleading acts or practices prior to the initiation of this FTC 

action. 

The Complaint does not specifically allege any other conduct purportedly in violation of 

the law other than the Florida Mailer, the Alabama Stimulus Mailer, and the Prize Notification 

Mailer in early to mid-2020. The Complaint merely includes select portions of the mailers and 

conclusory claims that such mailers are in violation of the law. The Complaint is completely devoid 

of any specific findings by the Commission relating to the purportedly deceptive nature of the 

mailers, and any facts specific to Traffic Jam Events, LLC or Mr. Jeansonne. The Complaint does 

not set forth any of the factual bases or support required by the FTC’s own Policy Statement on 

Deception.  In short, the Complaint contains nothing more than conclusory statements of the law.   

Counts I and II  

Contrary to the Complaint, the Florida Mailer, the Alabama Stimulus Mailer, and the Prize 

Notification Mailer are neither “deceptive” nor “unfair.” See 15 U.S.C. § 45. “Deceptive” practices 

are defined in the Commission’s Policy Statement on Deception as involving a material 

representation, omission or practice that is likely to mislead a consumer acting reasonably in the 

circumstances. An act or practice is “unfair” if it “causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to 

consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers themselves and not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.” 15 U.S.C. §45(n).  Further, the act or 

practice must be material. 
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A key part of the FTC’s deceptive practices analysis is what is known as the “reasonable 

consumer.” In order for a statement or omission to be deceptive, the interpretation of the 

advertiser’s message must be one that would be made by a reasonable consumer. In determining 

what a reasonable interpretation of an advertisement is, the Commission assesses the entire 

advertisement. Freeman v. Time, Inc., 68 F.3d 285, 289 (9th Cir. 1995) (affirming the dismissal 

because although the mailer in large type stated that plaintiff won the sweepstakes, the small type 

stated that he would win if only if he returned the winning prize number). This assessment is to be 

based on common sense and good judgment. See In re Bristol-Myers Co., 1983 FTC LEXIS 64 

(1983), aff’d, 738 F.2d 554 (2d Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1189 (1985); cf. FTC v. Colgate-

Palmolive Co., 380 U.S. 374, 385 (1965) (“pragmatic judgment”). Moreover, a representation is 

not deceptive merely because it is unreasonably misunderstood by an insignificant number of 

persons to whom the representation is addressed. See Heinz W. Kirchner, 63 F.T.C. 1282, 1290 

(1963), aff’d, 337 F.2d 751 (9th Cir. 1964). 

Similarly, the FTC’s unfair practices analysis entails a three-step test. As codified in 1994, 

in order for a practice to be deemed unfair, the injury it causes must be (1) substantial, (2) without 

offsetting benefits, and (3) one that consumers cannot reasonably avoid. Orkin Exterminating Co. 

v. FTC, 849 F.2d 1354 (11th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 1041 (1989). Each step involves a 

detailed, fact-specific analysis that must be carefully considered by the Commission.  

Here, it is simply not plausible that reasonable consumers would be deceived by the Florida 

Mailer. The Complaint outlines the allegedly deceptive nature of the Florida Mailer and fixates on 

a watermark that purportedly resembles the Great Seal of the United States. Yet, no reasonable 

consumer would believe that Respondents were affiliated with the federal government’s economic 

stimulus program after viewing the advertisement in its entirety. Indeed, despite the Complaint’s 
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references to the CARES Act, the Florida Mailer does not reference the government or the CARES 

Act, the CARES Act had not even been enacted at the time of the advertisement, and the CARES 

Act as ultimately enacted has nothing to do with the automotive industry. See H.R. 748, CARES 

Act, Public Law 116-136. 

Likewise, the Complaint’s attempts to characterize the simulated check as deceptive do not 

pass muster. First, the FTC fails to consider that the alleged “check” contains patently obvious 

indicators that it is not a real check.  The “check” is not drawn on any financial institution (real or 

fake).  The “check” contains no payee and does not contain any routing numbers or other indicia 

of a real check.  Any reasonable consumer knows that real checks contain these items.  In line with 

the Commission’s continuous attempts to distort the gravity of Respondents’ allegedly deceptive 

conduct by including only certain portions of the Florida Mailer in the Complaint, the Commission 

fails to include the check’s non-negotiable nature, expressly written on the back of the check:7 

 

                                                 
7 The FTC likewise excludes the portions of the Florida Mailer that specifically address 

vehicles (i.e., further support that they are clearly advertisements), and as discussed above, the 

FTC completely neglects to attach the referenced exhibits (i.e., actual copies of the advertisements 

that are the subject of the Complaint).   
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See Exhibit “A.” This disclaimer is consistent with 39 U.S.C. § 3001(j)(C)(3) which requires that 

a facsimile check contain “a statement on the check itself that such check is not a negotiable 

instrument and has no cash value.” At bottom, the Florida COVID Mailer is not deceptive. Taken 

as a whole, this Florida COVID Mailer is very clearly an advertisement for an automotive tent 

sale, and the reasonable consumer would not be deceived that it is offering government assistance 

associated with the  

Nor does the Florida COVID Mailer constitute an unfair advertisement practice. The 

Complaint fails to identify any evidence whatsoever of a purportedly substantial harm that cannot 

be reasonably avoided. Respondents, moreover, have already rectified the alleged past unfair 

advertising practices, and there is no evidence that Respondents pose a recidivist threat. Because 

the Complaint’s definitions of “deceptive” and “unfair” marketing practices do not comport with 

the facts of the case, the FTC has no valid FTC Act action against Respondents with respect to the 

Florida COVID Mailer.  

It is even more absurd to allege that the Alabama Stimulus Mailer violates the FTC Act. 

Nowhere on envelope or the advertisement is there a reference to the government or to COVID-

19. The mailer did not even contain a non-negotiable check. It was essentially a double-sided flyer 

that depicted various automobiles with specific details concerning the promotional program. 

Although the Alabama Stimulus Mailer includes language of an “automotive stimulus,” this 

language is not exclusive to the Federal Government. Indeed, Miriam-Webster’s defines the word 

“stimulus” as “something that rouses or incites to activity.”8 That is precisely the thrust of the 

advertisement – to incite automotive sales, and it was offering “stimulus” or incentives to do so. 

                                                 
8 Available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/stimulus (last accessed 

August 26, 2020) 
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Therefore, it is improper to conclude that the Alabama Stimulus Mailer deceived reasonable 

consumers in any way.  

Finally, it is simply not plausible to contend that Respondents’ Prize Notifications Mailer 

violates the FTC Act. First, a reasonable consumer would not be deceived by Respondents’ Prize 

Notification Mailer. The mailer clearly identifies the terms of the competition, expressly providing 

that a contestant is only a winner if “[t]he winning number on [the] invitation matches the prize 

board at the dealership,” and including the 1/52,000 odds of winning. See Exhibit “C” (emphasis 

added). And, there is large capitalized font at the top of the flyer referencing the Combination Box 

“AT THE TENT EVENT IN MADISON FOR A LIMITED TIME ONLY.” Id.  

Likewise, the Prize Notification Mailer does not constitute an “unfair” trade practice as the 

Complaint fails to provide any evidence that would satisfy the three prongs of the unfairness 

analysis. Therefore, Count II – Deceptive Representations Regarding Prize Winnings – fails as a 

matter of law.  

Count III 

In addition to FTC Act violations, the Complaint includes purported violations of the 

advertising disclosure requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1664 and the corresponding Regulation Z at 12 

C.F.R. § 226.24. According to the Complaint, the Florida COVID Mailer and the Alabama 

Stimulus Mailer did not clearly and conspicuously reflect the amount or percent of the down 

payments, the terms of repayment and the annual percentage rates. Contrary to these assertions, 

both mailers clearly and conspicuously outline the down payment requirements for several 

different vehicles provided as examples of the types of deals available at the various tent sales. 

Moreover, the Florida COVID Mailer states that all payments will be deferred for 120 days and 

that purchasers will have “0% A.P.R. financing for 60 months.” Likewise, the Alabama Stimulus 

Mailer provides that “[f]irst payments will be deferred for 3 full months” and that a variety of 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION | OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY | FILED 8/27/2020 | OSCAR NO. 599255 |Page 11 of 73| PUBLIC



PUBLIC 

{N4074092.1} 12 

 

vehicles have “0% A.P.R. financing for 84 months.” As such, Respondents satisfy the minimum 

TILA and Regulation Z requirements.  

ANSWER 

1. Respondents admit the allegations in Paragraph 1 of the Complaint.  

2. Respondents admit that Mr. Jeansonne is the owner, managing member, and 

president of Traffic Jam Events, LLC The remaining allegations in Paragraph 2 of the Complaint 

are denied. In further response, Respondents aver that Respondents generated the advertisements 

on behalf of and at the request of and for the benefit of automotive dealerships that are not parties 

to the instant action.   

3. Respondents admit the allegations in Paragraph 3 of the Complaint. 

4. The allegations of Paragraph 4 of the Complaint do not require a response.  To the 

extent a response is deemed necessary, Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 4 in their 

entirety. In further response, Respondents aver that the Florida COVID Mailer was mailed within 

Florida and the corresponding sale occurred in Florida, and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer and the 

Price Notification Mailer were mailed within Alabama and the respective corresponding sales 

occurred in Alabama. There was no interstate commerce implicated, and therefore the FTC lacks 

jurisdiction over these matters. 

5. Respondents categorically deny the allegations in Paragraph 5 of the Complaint, 

and demand strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing 

Introductory Statement.  

6. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 6 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory 

Statement. 
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7. The allegations of Paragraph 7 of the Complaint do not require a response; 

however, to the extent that a response is deemed necessary, Respondents deny the allegations in 

Paragraph 7 of the Complaint. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing 

Introductory Statement and expressly deny any suggestion that any of Traffic Jam Events, LLC’s 

advertisements referenced the CARES Act. 

8. The allegations of Paragraph 8 of the Complaint do not require a response; 

however, to the extent that a response is deemed necessary, Respondents deny the allegations in 

Paragraph 8 of the Complaint. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing 

Introductory Statement and expressly deny any suggestion that any of Traffic Jam Events, LLC’s 

advertisements referenced the CARES Act. 

9. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 9 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory 

Statement and aver that the Florida COVID Mailer (Exhibit “A” hereto) is the best proof of its 

contents.   

10. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 10 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory 

Statement and aver that the Alabama Stimulus Mailer (Exhibit “B” hereto) is the best proof of its 

contents.   

11. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 11 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory 

Statement and expressly note that there is no “Exhibit E” included with the FTC’s Complaint. 

Respondents further aver that there is no allegation that the allegedly proposed advertisements 
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referenced in Paragraph were disseminated to consumers. As such, there is no cause of action 

related to the allegations contained in Paragraph 11. 

12. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 12 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory 

Statement and aver that the Prize Notification Mailer (Exhibit “C” hereto) is the best proof of its 

contents.   

13. Respondents admit that the Florida Attorney General has instituted an action 

against Respondents, and Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory Statement which 

addresses the Florida Litigation. That litigation is pending.  Respondents also admit that the states 

of Indiana and Kansas previously brought actions against Traffic Jam Events, LLC (among others 

unrelated to Traffic Jam Events, LLC) and that Traffic Jam Events entered into consent 

agreements. The remainder of the allegations of Paragraph 13 of the Complaint are denied. In 

further response, Respondents aver that the referenced actions and consent agreements are the best 

evidence of their terms and contents, and the consent agreements entered into with the states of 

Indiana and Kansas are attached hereto as Exhibits “F” in globo9 and “G.” Notably, such consent 

agreements expressly disclaim any liability on behalf of Traffic Jam Events, LLC and do not 

constitute an admission of liability. See Exhibit “F” at 2010 Consent Judgment ¶ 8 and 2013 

Consent Judgment ¶ 17 and Exhibit “G” at ¶ 3.  

                                                 
9 Exhibit “F” includes two separate consent judgments – State of Kansas v. Traffic Jam 

Events, LLC, Case No. 10-C-1278 (Ks. Dist. Ct., Shawnee Cty) (“2010 Consent Judgment”) and 

State of Kansas v. Traffic Jam Events, LLC, Case No. 12-CV-8191 (Ks. Dist. Ct., Johnson Cty) 

(“2013 Consent Judgment”).  
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14. Respondents categorically deny the allegations in Paragraph 14 of the Complaint, 

and demand strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing 

Introductory Statement.  

15. Respondents categorically deny the allegations in Paragraph 15 of the Complaint, 

and demand strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing 

Introductory Statement and aver that the Florida Mailer and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer are the 

best evidence of their contents.  

16. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 16 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

17. Respondents categorically deny the allegations in Paragraph 17 of the Complaint, 

and demand strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing 

Introductory Statement and aver that the Prize Notification Mailer is the best evidence of its 

contents.  

18. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 18 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

19. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 19 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

20. The allegations in Paragraph 20 of the Complaint do not require a response; 

however, the extent that a response is deemed necessary, Respondents deny the allegations in 

Paragraph 20 of the Complaint, and demand strict proof thereof. 

21. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 21 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory 
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Statement and aver that the Florida COVID Mailer and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer are the best 

evidence of their contents.  

22. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 21 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. In further response, Respondents incorporate the foregoing Introductory 

Statement and aver that the Florida COVID Mailer and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer are the best 

evidence of their contents.  

23. Respondents deny the allegations in Paragraph 23 of the Complaint, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

24. The remaining Paragraphs of the Complaint including the Notice provisions and 

Wherefore paragraph do not require a response; however, to the extent a response is deemed 

necessary, Respondents deny all such allegations and requests for relief.  

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to State a Claim for Relief) 

The Commission’s Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  By 

way of example and not limitation, the Commission fails to allege that Respondents have engaged 

in practices covered by the Act.  The Complaint fails as matter of law because Commission cannot 

establish that the complained of acts were or are likely to mislead the consumer acting reasonably 

in the circumstances, to the consumer’s detriment, nor that any complained of act or practice was 

material.  Additionally, the Commission cannot establish that any of the mailers violated TILA or 

Regulation Z.  

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Jeansonne) 

 

The Commission has not stated a claim against Mr. Jeansonne in his individual capacity. 
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THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Mootness)  

 

The allegations of the Complaint are moot as Respondents discontinued the purportedly 

unfair and deceptive practice long before the institution of the current proceeding.  

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Public Interest)  

 

The Complaint fails to comply with Section 5(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 45(b), because the issuance of the Administrative Complaint and the contemplated relief 

are not in the public interest.  

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Arbitrary and Capricious)  

 

The FTC’s actions in violating its established practice and procedures for the institution of 

this Complaint amounts to arbitrary and capricious conduct.  This includes, but is not limited to 

collaboration with the Florida Attorney General on selective facts, the failure to give notice or any 

warning, the failure to give a cease and desist notice, the retaliatory nature of this action following 

a voluntary dismissal of the federal court action, and a failure to determine whether a single 

consumer was or could have been deceived.  The “evidence” cited in this Complain was generated 

solely on the basis of incomplete information provided to the FTC by another government agency 

and the FTC’s attempts to support its action in the Eastern District of Louisiana.   

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Extinguishment)  

 

The defense of extinguishment applies because the Florida Attorney General has already 

imposed a penalty on, and received payment from the dealer responsible for the complained of 

Florida COVID Mailer. As such, any purportedly harmed consumer should been compensated. 
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SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Third Party Liability)  

 

The dealerships for whom the advertisements were created are responsible for any alleged 

harm to consumers.  

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to Make Requisite Findings)  

 

The Commission failed to make the requisite findings in connection with the institution of 

the instant administrative action and Complaint. The Complaint is completely devoid of any 

specific findings by the Commission relating to the purportedly deceptive nature of the mailers, or 

any facts specific to Traffic Jam Events, LLC or Mr. Jeansonne. The allegations are nothing more 

than statements of the law.   

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Due Process)  

 

The Administrative Complaint is a violation of Respondents’ due process rights. 

Respondents lack notice as to what constitutes unfair or deceptive trade practices because the 

statute is impermissibly vague and the FTC acted in violation of its own procedures regarding prior 

notice.  

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Jurisdiction)  

 

The Commission lacks jurisdiction to decide the matters that are the subject of this 

Complaint.  

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Interstate Commerce)  

 

The Complaint violates the principles of Federalism. The allegedly deceptive mailers do 

not violate either the Florida regulations or the Alabama regulations on deceptive trade practices. 

Fla. Stat. Ann. § 501.201 et seq.; Ala. Code § 8-19-1 et seq.   Because these mailers were sent to 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION | OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY | FILED 8/27/2020 | OSCAR NO. 599255 |Page 18 of 73| PUBLIC



PUBLIC 

{N4074092.1} 19 

 

consumers within those states, there is no interstate commerce. Therefore, there is no cause of 

action on behalf of the FTC.  

Respondents expressly reserve the right to amend and/or supplement these affirmative 

defenses as discovery progresses. 

WHEREFORE, Respondents respectfully request that the Commission (i) dismiss the 

Complaint in its entirety with prejudice, (ii) award Respondents their costs of suit, including 

attorneys’ fees, and (iii) award such other and further relief as the Commission may deem proper.  

 Dated: August 26, 2020.  

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

/s/ L. Etienne Balart  

L. ETIENNE BALART (La. #24951) 

LAUREN C. MASTIO (La. #33077) 

JENNIFER A. DAVID (La. #37092) 

TAYLOR K. WIMBERLY (La. #38942) 

Jones Walker LLP 

201 St. Charles Avenue – 49th Floor 

New Orleans, LA  70170 

Telephone: (504) 582-8584 

Facsimile: (504) 589-8584 

Email: ebalart@joneswalker.com 

lmastio@@joneswalker.com 

jdavid@joneswalker.com 

twimberly@joneswalker.com    

 

Counsel for Respondents, Traffic Jam Events, 

LLC and David J. Jeansonne II 

 

  

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION | OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY | FILED 8/27/2020 | OSCAR NO. 599255 |Page 19 of 73| PUBLIC



PUBLIC 

{N4074092.1} 20 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 27th day of August, 2020, I caused a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Complaint to be filed through the Federal 

Trade Commission’s E-filing platform. I have emailed a courtesy copy of such filing to 

ElectronicFilings@FTC.gov, and I have served the following parties via email:  

Pablo Zylberglait 

Staff Attorney 

Office of the Secretary 

600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 

Washington DC 20580 

 

/s/ L. Etienne Balart  
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Attorney General Ashley Moody News Release

April 23, 2020
Contact: Kylie Mason
Phone: (850) 245-0150

Attorney General Moody Takes Legal Action against Marketing Company for Fake
COVID-19 Stimulus Checks in Car Promotions

TALLAHASSEE, Fla.—Attorney General Ashley Moody’s Consumer Protection Division today
filed a legal complaint and motion for temporary injunction against an advertising company,
operating in Tampa, for mailing used car promotions disguised as COVID-19 stimulus checks.
Traffic Jam Events, LLC and its owner David J. Jeansonne, II allegedly sent the deceptive
mailers to more than 35,000 Florida consumers to attract them to an automotive tent sale
taking place between March 27 through April 5 in Bushnell, Fla. The mailer also included a
simulated check of more than $3,000 appearing to represent funds available from a
government stimulus program. 

In response to consumer complaints related to the COVID-19 mail piece, the Consumer
Protection Division opened an investigation against Traffic Jam Events and Jeansonne, as well
as the auto dealer that supplied the automobiles for the tent sale, MK Automotive, Inc. d/b/a
New Wave, and its owner, Michael Kastrenakes. The owner of the dealership is cooperating
with the investigation and has entered an assurance of voluntary compliance with the Attorney
General’s Office. 

Attorney General Ashley Moody said, “This type of deceptive marketing is completely
unacceptable and is even more outrageous during these challenging times. These marketing
ploys prey on people’s desperate anticipation of stimulus assistance and falsely suggest that
there is government stimulus funding for auto purchases. These misleading practices will not
be tolerated, and if anyone tries to take advantage of this crisis and the legitimate financial
assistance available for those in need, my office will hold you accountable.” 

The Attorney General’s complaint alleges Traffic Jam Events organizes auto tent sale events at
various locations throughout Florida and solicits consumers to attend these tent sales through
direct mailers sent to Florida consumers. The fake COVID-19 stimulus mailers were sent to
consumers in an oversized envelope stating that the contents were urgent and important
COVID-19 economic stimulus document were enclosed. The envelope contained a document
claiming to be a notice and an image of a check purporting to come from the Stimulus Relief
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Program. 

The notice referenced that relief funds and other incentives were available at the tent sale, and
that consumers must claim the incentives during the temporary 10-day sale. The mailer also
stated that the Automotive Stimulus Program would include hundreds of good quality, clean
cars, trucks, vans and SUVs from participating dealerships in the area. 

Part of the notice is copied below:

Along with the legal complaint, the Attorney General’s Office filed a motion for temporary
injunction to enjoin the defendants from making false and deceptive representations regarding
the COVID-19 stimulus program. The Attorney General’s Office is also seeking equitable relief,
civil penalties and fees for violating Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act. 

MK Automotive and its owner are cooperating with the investigation and have entered an
assurance of voluntary compliance, agreeing to cease using Traffic Jam Events in conjunction
with the sale of its automobiles, and to pay $10,000 toward consumer restitution and a $1,000
civil penalty.

To view the complaint, click here. 

To view the motion for temporary injunction, click here. 

To view the AVC with MK Automotive and Michael Kastrenakes, click here.

Attorney General Moody also recently released a Consumer Alert warning Floridians about
potential scams targeting stimulus payments. To view the alert, click here. 

To view previous Consumer Alerts about emerging COVID-19 related scams, click here.

Anyone who encounters a coronavirus stimulus package scam or any other types of COVID-19
fraud, should contact the Florida Attorney General’s Office at 1(866) 9NO-SCAM or
MyFloridaLegal.com.
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	UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
	BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
	 
	 In the Matter of  
	 
	TRAFFIC JAM EVENTS, LLC, a limited liability company 
	 
	and 
	 
	DAVID J. JEANSONNE II, individually and as an officer of TRAFFIC JAM EVENTS, LLC. 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	DOCKET NO. 9395 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Pursuant to Rule 3.12 of the Federal Trade Commission’s (“FTC” or “Commission”) Rules of Practice for Adjudicative Proceedings, Respondents Traffic Jam Events, LLC, and David J. Jeansonne II (collectively, “Respondents”) by and through their attorneys, admit, deny, and aver as follows with respect to the Administrative Complaint (“Complaint”) filed by the Commission:  
	Traffic Jam Events, LLC has been in the advertising business since 2007. Mr. Jeansonne, the President of Traffic Jam has been in the advertising business for many years. Specifically, Traffic Jam Events, LLC is in the business of creating mailers on behalf of automotive dealerships to promote automotive sales. This case involves what the FTC seeks to categorize as two types of mailers: an alleged “COVID-19 stimulus mailer” and a prize notification mailer. However, the FTC’s efforts to group the mailers refe
	The first mailer addressed in paragraph 9 of the Complaint included certain materials referencing a stimulus relief promotion (the “Florida Mailer”). The Florida Mailer was sent to 
	residents in Florida in March 2020 on behalf of New Wave Auto Sales promoting an automotive sales event in Bushnell, Florida from March 27, 2020 to April 5, 2020. See Exhibit “A.” A completely different mailer was sent to residents in Alabama in early April 2020 on behalf of FCA Fiat Chrysler advertising an automotive sales promotion in Dothan, Alabama (the “Alabama Stimulus Mailer”). See Exhibit “B;” see also Complaint at ¶ 10. With respect to the Florida Mailer and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer, the Complai
	Notably, the exhibits referenced in FTC’s Complaint which reveal the true nature of the mailers selectively and inaccurately described in paragraphs 9 and 10 of the Complaint were not included with the copy of the Complaint served on Respondents and also are not included with the Complaint posted on the FTC’s website. Moreover, to the extent that similar tactics were employed in the presentation of this matter to the Commission in connection with its vote to institute the 
	instant administrative proceeding, the procedures and processes under which this action were initiated were arbitrary, capricious and otherwise in violation of the law and the FTC’s own Policy Statement on Deception.  
	The second category of mailer (the “Prize Notification Mailer”) outlined details about a contest involving potential prizes. The Prize Notification Mailer was sent to residents in Alabama in May 2020 on behalf of Landers McLarty Nissan promoting an automotive sales event in Madison, Alabama from May 28 to June 3, 2020. See Exhibit “C.” With respect to the Prize Notification Mailer, the FTC alleges that Respondents mailed deceptive prize notifications to consumers, purporting to lure individuals to an automo
	The instant administrative action arises as a direct result of the FTC’s after the fact collaboration with the Florida Attorney General’s office following a state lawsuit1 relating to the Florida Mailer, a consent decree involving another party,2 as well as the FTC’s failed attempt to pursue claims regarding the Florida Mailer in federal court. See Federal Trade Commission v. Traffic Jam Events, LLC et al., CV No. 2:20-CV-1740-WBV-DMD (Ed. La. 2020) (the “EDLA Litigation”) (denying the FTC’s Motion for a Te
	1 See Office of the Attorney General, et al. v. Traffic Jam Events, LLC et al., Case No. 20-CA-3536 (Fla. Cir. Ct., 13th Judicial Cir., Hillsborough Cty. 2020) (the “Florida Litigation”). Respondents incorporate by reference the entire docket in connection with the Florida Litigation, which is publically available, as if physically attached hereto.   
	2 See Exhibit “D.”   
	dismissed by the FTC prior to the Court’s ruling on Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss the case in its entirety).3 It is procedurally flawed, retaliatory in nature, and arbitrary and capricious. 
	3 Respondents incorporate by reference the entire docket in connection with the EDLA Litigation, which is publically available, as if physically attached hereto.   
	4 At the time Respondents mailed these purportedly “fake” stimulus checks, however, Congress had not yet passed any stimulus relief. Therefore, it was preposterous to believe that any consumer, much less the reasonable consumer, was likely to be misled by the COVID Mailers. Moreover, the relief that ultimately was passed had nothing to do with the automotive industry, and certainly not the vehicles prominently featured in the COVID Mailer (e.g., Mercedes and Nissan). 
	While Respondents admittedly engaged in the practice of sending the Florida Mailer to Florida residents, there is no evidence of consumer harm, nor, more importantly, evidence of any deception.  The FTC has taken zero steps to ascertain whether a single consumer was deceived, misled or harmed.  To the contrary, the FTC seems to have blindly relied upon the mischaracterizations supplied by the Florida AG’s office, and a highly selective interpretation of the Alabama Stimulus Mailer that fails to consider the
	Rather than contacting Respondents to address any of these allegations, the Florida Attorney General obtained incomplete information from Michael Kasternakes and New Wave Auto Sales,5 who had hired Respondents to run the advertisements. On the day of filing the Lawsuit, the Florida Attorney General’s office issued a “Press Release” that, among other things, claimed that “Ashley Moody’s Consumer Protection Division today filed a legal complaint and motion for temporary injunction against an advertising compa
	5 Unsurprisingly, Kastrenakes and New Wave provided untruthful declarations to the FTC after entering into an Assurance of Voluntary Compliance with the Florida Attorney General, expressly pledging their cooperation. See Exhibit “E” at 7. They falsely stated that they did not assist in the development of the COVID Mailer and repudiated its content once they were made aware of it.  
	Moreover, contrary to the assertions in the Press Release, the Mailer resulted in no deception as the tent sale was a complete dud. The Florida Mailer generated little response, and out of a total of 35,000 mailers, not a single Florida consumer appeared at the tent sale looking for COVID-19 Stimulus Relief. Further, despite months of investigation following the filing of the Florida Litigation, the Florida Attorney General (and the FTC) have been unable to unearth a single consumer who was either misled, d
	without any basis in fact, and could only have been done to enhance the perceived “threat” of the Respondent’ actions and elevate the lawsuit for purposes of the Press Release and/or to gather news attention.  
	Knowing that the claims lacked merit (i.e., its claims did not warrant any preliminary injunctive relief6 and were not in violation of any Florida law), the Florida Attorney General’s office apparently contacted the FTC in an effort to create a “federal case” against Respondents and bolster its claim. Presumably, because this occurred during the period of time when the parties were discussing a resolution of the complaint, the Florida Attorney General’s office was using this contact to leverage its failed d
	6 Indeed, to date, despite its Petition, the Florida Attorney General’s office has not pursued the temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction. 
	In doing so, the Commission failed to follow the proper procedural channels. The Commission made a calculated decision to forgo its typical practice of providing notice to Respondents’ of their allegedly deceptive conduct. It filed suit in federal court, despite the fact that the Commission could not show that Respondents were currently violating the law or were about to violate the law, as required by Section 13(b) of the FTC Act. Because the Commission could not show any need for immediate relief, the fed
	Apparently frustrated by this defeat, the Commission purportedly then voted to institute the instant administrative action, consisting of new, additional claims (i.e., claims relating to the 
	Alabama Stimulus Mailer, TILA and Regulation Z, and the Prize Notification Mailer, none of which were raised in the EDLA Litigation), in an attempt to seek penalties from Respondents. Respondents are not aware of any complaints from consumers regarding the Alabama Stimulus Mailers or the Prize Notification Mailers.  Nor have the Respondents received any notices or warnings of allegedly deceptive or misleading acts or practices prior to the initiation of this FTC action. 
	The Complaint does not specifically allege any other conduct purportedly in violation of the law other than the Florida Mailer, the Alabama Stimulus Mailer, and the Prize Notification Mailer in early to mid-2020. The Complaint merely includes select portions of the mailers and conclusory claims that such mailers are in violation of the law. The Complaint is completely devoid of any specific findings by the Commission relating to the purportedly deceptive nature of the mailers, and any facts specific to Traf
	Contrary to the Complaint, the Florida Mailer, the Alabama Stimulus Mailer, and the Prize Notification Mailer are neither “deceptive” nor “unfair.” See 15 U.S.C. § 45. “Deceptive” practices are defined in the Commission’s Policy Statement on Deception as involving a material representation, omission or practice that is likely to mislead a consumer acting reasonably in the circumstances. An act or practice is “unfair” if it “causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably
	A key part of the FTC’s deceptive practices analysis is what is known as the “reasonable consumer.” In order for a statement or omission to be deceptive, the interpretation of the advertiser’s message must be one that would be made by a reasonable consumer. In determining what a reasonable interpretation of an advertisement is, the Commission assesses the entire advertisement. Freeman v. Time, Inc., 68 F.3d 285, 289 (9th Cir. 1995) (affirming the dismissal because although the mailer in large type stated th
	Similarly, the FTC’s unfair practices analysis entails a three-step test. As codified in 1994, in order for a practice to be deemed unfair, the injury it causes must be (1) substantial, (2) without offsetting benefits, and (3) one that consumers cannot reasonably avoid. Orkin Exterminating Co. v. FTC, 849 F.2d 1354 (11th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 1041 (1989). Each step involves a detailed, fact-specific analysis that must be carefully considered by the Commission.  
	Here, it is simply not plausible that reasonable consumers would be deceived by the Florida Mailer. The Complaint outlines the allegedly deceptive nature of the Florida Mailer and fixates on a watermark that purportedly resembles the Great Seal of the United States. Yet, no reasonable consumer would believe that Respondents were affiliated with the federal government’s economic stimulus program after viewing the advertisement in its entirety. Indeed, despite the Complaint’s 
	references to the CARES Act, the Florida Mailer does not reference the government or the CARES Act, the CARES Act had not even been enacted at the time of the advertisement, and the CARES Act as ultimately enacted has nothing to do with the automotive industry. See H.R. 748, CARES Act, Public Law 116-136. 
	Likewise, the Complaint’s attempts to characterize the simulated check as deceptive do not pass muster. First, the FTC fails to consider that the alleged “check” contains patently obvious indicators that it is not a real check.  The “check” is not drawn on any financial institution (real or fake).  The “check” contains no payee and does not contain any routing numbers or other indicia of a real check.  Any reasonable consumer knows that real checks contain these items.  In line with the Commission’s continu
	7 The FTC likewise excludes the portions of the Florida Mailer that specifically address vehicles (i.e., further support that they are clearly advertisements), and as discussed above, the FTC completely neglects to attach the referenced exhibits (i.e., actual copies of the advertisements that are the subject of the Complaint).   
	 
	See Exhibit “A.” This disclaimer is consistent with 39 U.S.C. § 3001(j)(C)(3) which requires that a facsimile check contain “a statement on the check itself that such check is not a negotiable instrument and has no cash value.” At bottom, the Florida COVID Mailer is not deceptive. Taken as a whole, this Florida COVID Mailer is very clearly an advertisement for an automotive tent sale, and the reasonable consumer would not be deceived that it is offering government assistance associated with the  
	Nor does the Florida COVID Mailer constitute an unfair advertisement practice. The Complaint fails to identify any evidence whatsoever of a purportedly substantial harm that cannot be reasonably avoided. Respondents, moreover, have already rectified the alleged past unfair advertising practices, and there is no evidence that Respondents pose a recidivist threat. Because the Complaint’s definitions of “deceptive” and “unfair” marketing practices do not comport with the facts of the case, the FTC has no valid
	It is even more absurd to allege that the Alabama Stimulus Mailer violates the FTC Act. Nowhere on envelope or the advertisement is there a reference to the government or to COVID-19. The mailer did not even contain a non-negotiable check. It was essentially a double-sided flyer that depicted various automobiles with specific details concerning the promotional program. Although the Alabama Stimulus Mailer includes language of an “automotive stimulus,” this language is not exclusive to the Federal Government
	8 Available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/stimulus (last accessed August 26, 2020) 
	Therefore, it is improper to conclude that the Alabama Stimulus Mailer deceived reasonable consumers in any way.  
	Finally, it is simply not plausible to contend that Respondents’ Prize Notifications Mailer violates the FTC Act. First, a reasonable consumer would not be deceived by Respondents’ Prize Notification Mailer. The mailer clearly identifies the terms of the competition, expressly providing that a contestant is only a winner if “[t]he winning number on [the] invitation matches the prize board at the dealership,” and including the 1/52,000 odds of winning. See Exhibit “C” (emphasis added). And, there is large ca
	Likewise, the Prize Notification Mailer does not constitute an “unfair” trade practice as the Complaint fails to provide any evidence that would satisfy the three prongs of the unfairness analysis. Therefore, Count II – Deceptive Representations Regarding Prize Winnings – fails as a matter of law.  
	In addition to FTC Act violations, the Complaint includes purported violations of the advertising disclosure requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1664 and the corresponding Regulation Z at 12 C.F.R. § 226.24. According to the Complaint, the Florida COVID Mailer and the Alabama Stimulus Mailer did not clearly and conspicuously reflect the amount or percent of the down payments, the terms of repayment and the annual percentage rates. Contrary to these assertions, both mailers clearly and conspicuously outline the down
	vehicles have “0% A.P.R. financing for 84 months.” As such, Respondents satisfy the minimum TILA and Regulation Z requirements.  
	ANSWER 
	9 Exhibit “F” includes two separate consent judgments – State of Kansas v. Traffic Jam Events, LLC, Case No. 10-C-1278 (Ks. Dist. Ct., Shawnee Cty) (“2010 Consent Judgment”) and State of Kansas v. Traffic Jam Events, LLC, Case No. 12-CV-8191 (Ks. Dist. Ct., Johnson Cty) (“2013 Consent Judgment”).  
	AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 
	FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Failure to State a Claim for Relief) 
	The Commission’s Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  By way of example and not limitation, the Commission fails to allege that Respondents have engaged in practices covered by the Act.  The Complaint fails as matter of law because Commission cannot establish that the complained of acts were or are likely to mislead the consumer acting reasonably in the circumstances, to the consumer’s detriment, nor that any complained of act or practice was material.  Additionally, the Commi
	SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Jeansonne) 
	 
	The Commission has not stated a claim against Mr. Jeansonne in his individual capacity. 
	THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Mootness)  
	 
	The allegations of the Complaint are moot as Respondents discontinued the purportedly unfair and deceptive practice long before the institution of the current proceeding.  
	FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Public Interest)  
	 
	The Complaint fails to comply with Section 5(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(b), because the issuance of the Administrative Complaint and the contemplated relief are not in the public interest.  
	FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Arbitrary and Capricious)  
	 
	The FTC’s actions in violating its established practice and procedures for the institution of this Complaint amounts to arbitrary and capricious conduct.  This includes, but is not limited to collaboration with the Florida Attorney General on selective facts, the failure to give notice or any warning, the failure to give a cease and desist notice, the retaliatory nature of this action following a voluntary dismissal of the federal court action, and a failure to determine whether a single consumer was or cou
	SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Extinguishment)  
	 
	The defense of extinguishment applies because the Florida Attorney General has already imposed a penalty on, and received payment from the dealer responsible for the complained of Florida COVID Mailer. As such, any purportedly harmed consumer should been compensated. 
	  
	SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Third Party Liability)  
	 
	The dealerships for whom the advertisements were created are responsible for any alleged harm to consumers.  
	EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Failure to Make Requisite Findings)  
	 
	The Commission failed to make the requisite findings in connection with the institution of the instant administrative action and Complaint. The Complaint is completely devoid of any specific findings by the Commission relating to the purportedly deceptive nature of the mailers, or any facts specific to Traffic Jam Events, LLC or Mr. Jeansonne. The allegations are nothing more than statements of the law.   
	NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Due Process)  
	 
	The Administrative Complaint is a violation of Respondents’ due process rights. Respondents lack notice as to what constitutes unfair or deceptive trade practices because the statute is impermissibly vague and the FTC acted in violation of its own procedures regarding prior notice.  
	TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(Jurisdiction)  
	 
	The Commission lacks jurisdiction to decide the matters that are the subject of this Complaint.  
	ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
	(No Interstate Commerce)  
	 
	The Complaint violates the principles of Federalism. The allegedly deceptive mailers do not violate either the Florida regulations or the Alabama regulations on deceptive trade practices. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 501.201 et seq.; Ala. Code § 8-19-1 et seq.   Because these mailers were sent to 
	consumers within those states, there is no interstate commerce. Therefore, there is no cause of action on behalf of the FTC.  
	Respondents expressly reserve the right to amend and/or supplement these affirmative defenses as discovery progresses. 
	WHEREFORE, Respondents respectfully request that the Commission (i) dismiss the Complaint in its entirety with prejudice, (ii) award Respondents their costs of suit, including attorneys’ fees, and (iii) award such other and further relief as the Commission may deem proper.  
	 Dated: August 26, 2020.  
	 
	Respectfully Submitted,  
	 
	/s/ L. Etienne Balart  
	L. ETIENNE BALART (La. #24951) 
	LAUREN C. MASTIO (La. #33077) 
	JENNIFER A. DAVID (La. #37092) 
	TAYLOR K. WIMBERLY (La. #38942) 
	Jones Walker LLP 
	201 St. Charles Avenue – 49th Floor 
	New Orleans, LA  70170 
	Telephone: (504) 582-8584 
	Facsimile: (504) 589-8584 
	Email: ebalart@joneswalker.com lmastio@@joneswalker.com jdavid@joneswalker.com twimberly@joneswalker.com    
	 
	Counsel for Respondents, Traffic Jam Events, LLC and David J. Jeansonne II 
	 
	  
	I hereby certify that on this 27th day of August, 2020, I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Complaint to be filed through the Federal Trade Commission’s E-filing platform. I have emailed a courtesy copy of such filing to ElectronicFilings@FTC.gov, and I have served the following parties via email:  
	Pablo Zylberglait 
	Staff Attorney 
	Office of the Secretary 
	600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
	Washington DC 20580 
	 
	/s/ L. Etienne Balart  
	 
	 
	 




